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CHAIRMAN’S ADDRESS 

Dear Fellow Shareholders, 

It gives me great pleasure to provide you with the 2020 Annual Report for Alliance Resources Limited 
(Alliance) and update you on our progress over the past year. 

Throughout the financial year 2020 (FY20) our efforts have continued to focus primarily on 
advancing the Weednanna gold and iron Project in South Australia. 

Significant progress was made during the year as exploration efforts continued to identify additional 
gold mineralisation at the Weednanna deposit, increasing our confidence in the project. Work also 
commenced on analysing historic iron assay data, identifying areas of poor density or missing assay 
results and modelling of economic iron mineralisation to identify potential Direct Shipping Ore 
(DSO).  

On 19 August 2019, Alliance received an off-market takeover offer by Gandel Metals Pty Ltd (GM) to 
acquire all of the shares in Alliance at an Offer price of $0.14 per share. An Independent Expert’s 
Report expressed the view that “In our opinion, the Offer is fair and reasonable to Shareholders”. 
The independent Alliance directors recommended that shareholders accept the Offer in the absence 
of a superior offer. The GM Offer closed on 14 October 2019, with GM, and its’ associated entity 
Abbotsleigh Pty Ltd, holding a total of 68.21% of issued capital in Alliance. 

During FY20 Alliance commenced the baseline audits and data collection surveys in preparation for 
completing a Mine Lease Proposal for submission to the regulator in South Australia. This is the 
penultimate step to being granted a mining license, and this data collection and baseline studies are 
ongoing. 

Metallurgical Analysis of the various Weednanna ore shoots commenced during the year, resulting 
in a comprehensive metallurgical flowsheet, processing plant design parameters and operating cost 
breakdown. The draft final report was submitted at the end of the reporting year, and the final 
report issued post the reporting period. This report will now be provided to our Engineering 
consultant to complete the detailed design of the 250,000 tpa gold processing plant.  

As reported at the 2019 AGM, Mr Stephen Johnston decided to step down as Managing Director of 
Alliance effective 1 December 2019, and continues to support Alliance in his capacity as a non-
executive director. I would like to thank Stephen for his many years of service as Managing Director 
of Alliance and look forward to many more years as a fellow board member. 

Accordingly, I am pleased to introduce Mr Kevin Malaxos as the incoming Managing Director, 
effective 1 December 2019. Kevin is a mining engineer resident in South Australia with over 30 years’ 
experience in the mining industry and who will drive the next phase of Alliance’s Wilcherry Project, 
and more specifically the development phase of the Weednanna gold and iron Project. 

I would like to thank the Board of Directors, our staff, contractors, shareholders and stakeholders for 
the focus, diligence and support of Alliance’s efforts over the past year. I look forward to progressing 
the Weednanna gold and iron deposit towards development. 

Ian Gandel 

Chairman 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Alliance Resources Limited (ASX: AGS, “Alliance” or “the Company”) is an ASX-listed gold and base 
metals explorer with projects in South Australia and Western Australia. 

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN EXPLORATION 

WILCHERRY PROJECT (100%) 

The Wilcherry Project is located within the southern region of the Gawler Craton on the northern 
Eyre Peninsula, 40 km north of Kimba in South Australia. Wilcherry comprises seven exploration 
licences covering 1,501 km2 which are prospective for gold and base metals. 

During the year ending June 2020, and following receipt of the 2019 positive independent Scoping 
Study that supports the construction of a 250,000 tpa gold processing plant and tailings storage 
facility at Weednanna, the decision was made to commence baseline data audits and data collection 
necessary for completion of a Mine Lease Proposal (MLP) for submission to the South Australian 
Department for Energy and Mining (DEM) as part of the Mining Approvals process. Several 
independent consultants were engaged to undertake baseline surface and underground ground 
water modelling, flora and fauna surveys, baseline environmental and dust monitoring studies in 
preparation of the MLP. 

Figure 1. Wilcherry Project location 

Weednanna gold-iron Deposit 

Weednanna is the most advanced gold and iron deposit at Wilcherry. Work completed during the 
year included: 

▪ Drilled 165 RC holes for 19,609 metres, to increase geological confidence in the Weednanna
mineral resource; 

▪ Drilled 190 aircore holes for 7,769 metres to sterilise an area for mine infrastructure;

▪ Continued feasibility study level gold metallurgical test work; and

▪ Completed iron analysis of all Alliance drill samples collected since 2017.
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Figure 2. Weednanna location of drill holes completed during the year 
Legend- 
Red dots: RC holes drilled during the year 
Green dots: aircore holes drilled during the year 
Blue dots: all holes drilled prior to the current reporting period 

RC Drilling 
Four phases of RC drilling were completed at Weednanna during the year to increase the proportion 
of Measured and Indicated resources at the deposit (refer to Alliance ASX Announcements dated 11 
October 2019, 15 April 2020, 8 May 2020, and 6 August 2020). 

The following significant intercepts were reported: 

▪ 3m @ 3.4 g/t Au from 118m in 19WDRC064

▪ 9m @ 3.0 g/t Au from 147m and 3m @ 4.0 g/t Au from 175m in 19WDRC065

▪ 6m @ 16.6 g/t Au from 107m, including 4m @ 24.1 g/t Au from 108m in 19WDRC067

▪ 3m @ 3.8 g/t Au from 127m in 19WDRC075

▪ 3m @ 5.4 g/t Au from 10m in 19WDRC076

▪ 13m @ 1.2 g/t Au from 97m in 19WDRC086

▪ 6m @ 3.4 g/t Au from 54m, including 1m @ 12.1 g/t Au from 58m in 19WDRC087

▪ 35m @ 6.8 g/t Au from 46m, including 5m @ 30.1 g/t Au from 74m in 19WDRC111

▪ 20m @ 7.6 g/t Au from 59m, including 9m @ 12.3 g/t Au from 69m in 19WDRC112

▪ 18m @ 4.4 g/t Au from 64m in 19WDRC122

▪ 22m @ 6.2 g/t Au from 53m, including 12m @ 9.9 g/t Au from 59m in 19WDRC123

▪ 19m @ 2.8 g/t Au from 50m in 19WDRC124

▪ 40m @ 4.3 g/t Au from 40m including 8m @ 14.1 g/t Au from 55m in 19WDRC128

▪ 50m @ 3.4 g/t Au from 37m in 19WDRC129

▪ 32m @ 2.4 g/t Au from 41m, including 17m @ 3.4 g/t Au from 51m in 19WDRC130

▪ 19m @ 4.6 g/t Au from 38m, including 5m @ 11.0 g/t Au from 51m in 19WDRC134

▪ 52m @ 2.8 g/t Au from 35m in 19WDRC135
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▪ 27m @ 2.9 g/t Au from 36m in 19WDRC136

▪ 27m @ 7.6 g/t Au from 34m in 19WDRC140

▪ 28m @ 2.1 g/t Au from 42m in 19WDRC145

▪ 4m @ 6.0 g/t Au from 3m, including 1m @ 20.2 g/t Au from 5m in 20WDRC001

▪ 6m @ 4.8 g/t Au from 6m, including 2m @ 10.7 g/t Au from 10m in 20WDRC002

▪ 5m @ 63.8 g/t Au from 14m, including 2m @ 154.0 g/t Au from 15m in 20WDRC003

▪ 4m @ 2.0 g/t Au from 12m in 20WDRC005

▪ 7m @ 8.8 g/t Au from 8m including 4m @ 13.9 g/t Au from 9m in 20WDRC006 (Shoot 10)

▪ 7m @ 9.1 g/t Au from 9m, including 3m @ 14.5 g/t Au from 9m and 1m @ 14.1 g/t Au from 15m
in 20WDRC007 

▪ 6m @ 3.8 g/t Au from 7m in 20WDRC008

▪ 1m @ 40.5 g/t Au from 78m in 20WDRC015

▪ 11m @ 17.3 g/t Au from 101m, including 1m @ 166.0 g/t Au from 102m in 20WDRC023

▪ 39m @ 3.5 g/t Au from 99m, including 25m @ 4.7 g/t Au from 102m in 20WDRC040

▪ 8m @ 2.6 g/t Au from 20m in 20WDRC043

▪ 4m @ 7.0 g/t Au from 73m, including 1m @ 23.5 g/t Au from 75m in 20WDRC055

▪ 9m @ 15.3 g/t Au from 67m, including 6m @ 20.6 g/t Au from 69m in 20WDRC058

▪ 7m @ 8.1 g/t Au from 85m, including 4m @ 12.6 g/t Au from 86m in 20WDRC067

▪ 8m @ 20.1 g/t Au from 185m, including 2m @ 72.7 g/t Au from 186m in 20WDRC072

Cross-section interpretation of all drilling data has been completed and a 3D geological model 
constructed. Down hole density surveys and ongoing feasibility study level gold metallurgical test 
work were also completed during the year. This work will support an updated gold mineral resource 
estimate, expected to be released during November 2020, and will provide for the commencement 
of feasibility study level assessment of the commercial viability of the deposit. 
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Figure 3. Weednanna 3D plan view of +1 g/t Au intersections (size of dot represents grade of assay result) 
Legend- 
Green dots: 1-5 g/t Au   Dark blue lines indicate RC holes drilled during May 2020 
Orange dots: 5-10 g/t Au    Red dots: 10-20 g/t Au 
Magenta dots: > 20 g/t Au 

Aircore Drilling 

During August 2019, 190 aircore holes were drilled, totalling 7,769 metres, on the west side of the 
Weednanna Deposit to sterilise a 160 hectare area for proposed mine infrastructure including waste 
rock dumps, a gold processing plant and tailings storage facility and site administration buildings 
(refer to Alliance ASX announcement dated 9 October 2019). 

The aircore drilling program was designed to test for low level gold in regolith anomalism which can 
be used as a vector towards a primary gold deposit. All holes were drilled vertically on a 50 metre by 
200 metre spaced grid to blade refusal. The average depth of drilling during the program was 40.8m. 

Only one gold anomalous interval was intersected during the drilling program (2m @ 0.18 g/t Au 
from 20m in 19WDAC025), confirming the area is suitable for construction of mine infrastructure. 

Iron Analysis of RC drilling 
Since 2017, Alliance has drilled 363 RC holes and 5 diamond holes, totalling 50,281 metres, at the 
Weednanna Deposit to test for economic concentrations of gold. Gold at the Weednanna Deposit is 
located adjacent to, and on the margins of, ironstone and magnetite-rich skarn. 
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An iron mineral resource estimate for the Weednanna Deposit was reported by Ironclad in its 2014 
Annual Report of 11.2 Mt grading 41.97 % Fe. 

Between 2017 and 2019 Alliance’s exploration drilling at Weednanna focussed on assessing the 
commercial viability of establishing a gold mining operation and did not routinely analyse the 
ironstone and magnetite skarn for iron. In late 2019, Alliance reviewed the iron ore potential of 
Weednanna and selectively analysed the Alliance gold drilling sample pulps associated with 
ironstone and magnetite skarn for an extended iron ore suite of elements and compounds consisting 
of Fe, SiO2, Al2O3, CaO, MgO, MnO, P, S, K2O, Na2O, TiO2, Cu, Ni, Co, Cr, Pb, Zn, As, Sn, Sr, Zr, Ba, V, 
Cl and LOI. Where possible 1m split samples were selected, but in some cases where 1m samples 
were not available, 4m composite scoop samples were re-analysed. During 2020 Alliance has been 
routinely submitting 1m split drill samples that intersect ironstone and magnetite skarn for the iron 
ore suite of elements and compounds listed above in addition to gold analysis. 

A total of 2,332 drill sample pulps from the 2017 to 2019 drilling programs were re-analysed for iron, 
covering 4,663 metres of drilling. During the 2020 drilling programs, a further 2,746 1m split samples 
were also analysed for iron (refer to Alliance ASX announcement dated 31 August 2020). 

The following significant intercepts were reported: 

▪ 17m @ 57.3 % Fe from 8m in 18WDRC032

▪ 15m @ 61.2 % Fe from 31m in 18WDRC062

▪ 26m @ 63.1 % Fe from 19m in 18WDRC066

▪ 19m @ 63.6 % Fe from 14m in 19WDRC009

▪ 17m @ 57.1 % Fe from 19m in 19WDRC011

▪ 10m @ 62.2 % Fe from 92m in 19WDRC054

▪ 17m @ 62.1 % Fe from 19m in 19WDRC061

▪ 33m @ 61.6 % Fe from 12m in 19WDRC076

▪ 15m @ 59.8 % Fe from 105m in 19WDRC086

▪ 12m @ 57.1 % Fe from 14m in 20WDRC005

▪ 12m @ 55.5 % Fe from 10m in 20WDRC008

▪ 16m @ 57.5 % Fe from 40m in 20WDRC026

▪ 11m @ 60.3 % Fe from 125m in 20WDRC029

▪ 15m @ 63.8 % Fe from 29m in 20WDRC030

▪ 13m @ 60.5 % Fe from 17m in 20WDRC033

▪ 25m @ 58.3 % Fe from 17m in 20WDRC043

▪ 12m @ 62.6 % Fe from 16m in 20WDRC044

▪ 28m @ 61.0 % Fe from 28m in 20WDRC051

▪ 36m @ 56.8 % Fe from 22m in 20WDRC052

▪ 33m @ 58.5 % Fe from 23m in 20WDRC056

▪ 11m @ 55.1 % Fe from 110m in 20WDRC062

▪ 16m @ 58.1 % Fe from 188m in 20WDRC072

These iron intersections are concentrated in the central and southern areas of the deposit. In these 
areas, broad zones of magnetite skarn occur near-surface and are weathered to ironstone. The 
weathering process increases the iron content of the magnetite skarn and produces potential Direct 
Shipping Ore (DSO). 

An updated iron mineral resource estimates for the Weednanna Deposit will be completed during 
November 2020 and support the gold feasibility study assessment. 
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Figure 4. Weednanna 3D plan view of all 

iron intersections 

(size of dot represents grade of assay result) 

Legend- 

Brown dots: > 55 % Fe 

7



WEST AUSTRALIAN EXPLORATION 

Alliance holds a significant exploration tenement holding in the Eastern Goldfields region of Western 
Australia referred to as the Nepean North Project and Kalgoorlie South Project.  

Figure 5. West Australian Project locations 

NEPEAN NORTH PROJECT (100%) 

The Nepean North Project is located within the Coolgardie Domain of the Kalgoorlie Terrane in the 
Eastern Goldfields, 25 km southwest of Coolgardie and 60 km southwest of Kalgoorlie in Western 
Australia. 

Exploration licence E15/1658 was granted in November 2019 and during March 2020 a 250 sample 
auger soil program was completed to extend the previously defined gold in soil anomalism. 

Sampling was completed using a 100 metre by 200 metre spaced grid. 

The results from this auger soil sampling program have more than doubled the size of the gold in soil 
anomaly (+7.5 ppb Au threshold), which now covers a 4.5 square kilometre area (refer to Alliance 
ASX Announcement dated 8 May 2020). 

The next phase of exploration planned at the Project in 2021 is aircore drilling to test for gold in 
regolith anomalism, which can be used as a vector towards a primary gold deposit. 
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Figure 6. Nepean North Project gold in auger soil results 

KALGOORLIE SOUTH PROJECT (100%) 

The Kalgoorlie South Project is located within the Kambalda and Ora Banda Domains of the 
Kalgoorlie Terrane in the Eastern Goldfields, 15 km south of Kalgoorlie in Western Australia. 

The majority of the Project tenements were granted during the year. Alliance is reviewing historic 
exploration data to determine the mineral potential of the area and will plan exploration based on 
the outcome of this work. 

CORPORATE 

The non-renounceable entitlement offer (Entitlement Offer) announced on 11 May 2020 closed on 
28 May 2020. The Offer was based on 1 new share for every 6 shares held on the record date, at 
$0.08 per share. A total of $1.941 million was raised, before costs.  

During the reporting period, a total of 25,261,748 new ordinary shares were issued. The Company 
currently has 178,300,080 shares on issue and 10,850,000 unlisted share options. 

Alliance holds 71,393,843 ordinary shares in Tyranna Resources Limited (ASX Code: TYX) and 95,427 
ordinary shares in SciDev Ltd (ASX Code: SDV). 
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TAKEOVER OFFER FOR ALLIANCE 

On 19 August 2019, Alliance received an off-market takeover offer by Gandel Metals Pty Ltd (GM) to 
acquire all of the shares in Alliance at an Offer price of $0.14 per share. An Independent Expert’s 
Report expressed the view that “In our opinion, the Offer is fair and reasonable to Shareholders”. 
The independent Alliance directors recommended that shareholders accept the Offer in the absence 
of a superior offer. The GM Offer closed on 14 October 2019, with GM, and its’ associated entity 
Abbotsleigh Pty Ltd, holding a total of 68.21% of issued capital in Alliance. 

RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES STATEMENT 

The following statement of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves conforms to the Australasian Code 
for Reporting Exploration, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code) 2012 Edition. All 
tonnages reported are dry metric tonnes. Minor discrepancies may occur due to rounding to 
appropriate significant figures. 

Mineral Resources 

Weednanna Gold Mineral Resources Estimate 30 June 2020. 
Classification Tonnes Grade (g/t gold) Gold (Ounces) 

Measured - - - 

Indicated 590,000 4.6 88,000 

Inferred 507,000 5.7 93,000 

Total 1,097,000 5.1 181,000 
The reported Mineral Resource is that proportion of gold contained within $2,000 AUD pit shells (>0.5 g/t gold) and >2.0 
g/t gold underground potential. 

Reported in Alliance ASX announcement dated 6 September 2018. Alliance is not aware of any new 
information or data that materially affects the information included in the announcement of 6 
September 2018. All material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the mineral 
resource estimate in the announcement of 6 September 2018 continue to apply and have not 
materially changed. 

Ore Reserves 

The Company did not hold any Ore Reserves at 30 June 2020. 

Comparison Against Previous Year 

Mineral Resources 

Mineral Resources Estimate 30 June 2019. 
Classification Tonnes Grade (g/t gold) Gold (Ounces) 

Measured - - - 

Indicated 590,000 4.6 88,000 

Inferred 507,000 5.7 93,000 

Total 1,097,000 5.1 181,000 
The reported Mineral Resource is that proportion of gold contained within $2,000 AUD pit shells (>0.5 g/t gold) and >2.0 
g/t gold underground potential. 

Ore Reserves 
The Company did not hold any Ore Reserves at 30 June 2019. 

Discussion 
The Company’s Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves have not changed. During the reporting period 
Alliance drilled 165 RC holes, totalling 19,609 metres, at the Weednanna Deposit. An updated 
mineral resource estimate is expected to be released in November 2020. 
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COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

The information in this report that relates to the Exploration Results is based on information 
compiled by Mr Anthony Gray. Mr Gray is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and 
is a full-time employee of Alliance Resources Ltd. Mr Gray has sufficient experience which is relevant 
to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Gray consents 
to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in 
which it appears. 

TENEMENT SCHEDULE 

State Project Tenement Equity Status Holder 

South 
Australia 

Wilcherry 

EL 5875 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 5931 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 6072 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 6188 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 6379 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 6475 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

EL 6521 100% Granted Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd 

Western 
Australia 

Nepean North 

E15/1658 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 

E15/1787 100% Application Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
E15/1788 100% Application Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P15/6591 100% Application Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 

Kalgoorlie South 

P15/6389 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
E26/208 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 

P26/4458 100% Application Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P26/4459 100% Application Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P26/4460 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P26/4461 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P26/4462 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
P26/4463 100% Granted Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd 
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Alliance Resources Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2020 
 

 

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'consolidated entity’ or ‘group') consisting of Alliance Resources Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or 'parent 
entity' or ‘Alliance’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Alliance Resources Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Ian J Gandel (Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman) 
Anthony D Lethlean (Non-Executive Director) 
Stephen F Johnston (Non-Executive Director) resigned as MD effective from 30 November 2019 
Kevin J Malaxos (Managing Director) commenced on 1 December 2019 

Principal activities 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the year ended 30 June 2020 were exploring its projects in South 
Australia (Wilcherry Project) and Western Australia for gold and base metals. 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Review of operations 
The loss for the consolidated entity or group after providing for income tax amounted to $1,751,000 (30 June 2019: 
$1,650,000). 

A review of the group’s operations and financial position for the financial year and up to the date of this report is included in 
the annual report and should be read as part of the Directors' Report. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity or group during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
In order to more closely align the below subsidiary company's names with the State or region they operate in, the following 
company name changes were finalised post financial year end: 

 - Alliance (SA) Pty Ltd (‘ASA’) became Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd (‘AWA’) as from 9 July 2020 
 - Alliance Craton Explorer Pty Ltd (‘ACE’) became Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd (‘AEP’) as from 9 July 2020 

All other details remain the same. 
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Alliance Resources Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2020 
 

 

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 ('COVID-19' or 'the virus') was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organisation and post the balance date the pandemic is ongoing. The full impact of the virus on the economy in Australia is 
not yet known as the outbreak continues to evolve at the date of this report. The result of the pandemic has been 
substantial reduction in economic activity globally, as governments have introduced measures in a bid to halt or at least 
slow, transmission of the virus. In light of these circumstances, management continues to consider the potential 
implications of COVID-19 and have prepared a detailed cash flow budget for a period of 12 months from approval of these 
financial statements. As part of this process, a number of cash flow measures have been implemented and on this basis 
the Directors are of the view that the company has the ability to continue to operate as a going concern. 

Ongoing interstate and international travel restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic has and continues to hamper the 
group's on-site exploration activities, though not materially. Geologists continue to work remotely and local contractors 
have been engaged to ensure the group's projects progress. The group continues to follow strict site protocols for onsite 
works as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic ensuring all State and Federal obligations are adhered to.  

With the current easing of certain COVID-19 pandemic restrictions in Australia, including the re-opening of some of the 
States borders (particularly South Australia), the group has been able to progress its upcoming planned works in a timely 
manner. As at the date these financial statements were authorised, management was not aware of any material adverse 
effects on the financial statements as a result of COVID-19. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity or group's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity or group's state of affairs 
in future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The Boards' strategy for the immediate future is to explore the group's existing projects and continue to progress the Wilcherry 
Project towards the development stage. 

Environmental regulation 
Exploration activities at the group's projects in South Australia and Western Australia are conducted in accordance with 
relevant guidelines appropriate to those jurisdictions. 

Occupational Health & Safety 
The group has in place policies to cover Induction of New Employees, COVID-19 requirements, Duty of Care, Safety, 
Environment, Return to Work, Harassment, Fitness for Work and Privacy, and to ensure Quality Assurance and Control of 
its operations. 

The group is committed to providing a safe working environment for employees, contractors and others who may be affected 
directly or indirectly by its activities, protection of the environment and respect for the indigenous cultures and communities 
in which it operates. 
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Alliance Resources Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2020 
 

 

Information on directors 
Name:  Ian Jeffrey Gandel (Appointed a director on 15 October 2003) 
Title:  Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed on 23 June 2016) 
Qualifications:  LLB, BEc, FCPA, FAICD 
Experience and expertise:  Ian Gandel is a mining entrepreneur with extensive experience in retail management 

and retail property including Gandel Shopping Centres, Priceline Retail Chain and the 
CEO chain of serviced offices.  Ian is a former Director of the Gandel Retail Trust.  Ian 
has been an investor in the mining industry since 1994, is a substantial shareholder of 
a number of publicly listed Australian companies and is also involved in privately-
funded exploration in Western Australia.  

Other current directorships:  Ian is Non-executive Chairman of Alkane Resources Ltd ('Alkane') (appointed 1 
September 2017 and has been a non-executive director since 24 July 2006).  He is 
also Non-executive Chairman of Australian Strategic Materials Ltd (formerly Australian 
Zirconia Holdings Pty Ltd) (appointed 18 March 2014) which, following shareholder 
approval on 16 July 2020, was demerged from Alkane and was admitted to the Official 
List on the Australian Securities Exchange ('ASX') on 29 July 2020.  

Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Special responsibilities:  Ian is a member of the Nominations, Remuneration and Audit & Risk Committees 

(appointed 5 August 2010). 
Interests in shares:  127,968,073 as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 49,436,157) 
Interests in options:  Nil (2019: Nil) 

Name:  Anthony (Tony) Dean Lethlean (Appointed a director 15 October 2003) 
Title:  Independent Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications:  BAppSc (Geology) 
Experience and expertise:  Tony Lethlean is a geologist with over 10 years mining experience specialising in 

underground operations, including Kalgoorlie's Golden Mile (WMC & KCGM) and 
Bellevue.  For over 19 years he has been in banking and stock broking, including the 
global mining group at CIBC World Markets.   

Other current directorships:  Tony is also a non-executive director of Alkane Resources Ltd (appointed 30 May 
2002). 

Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Special responsibilities:  Tony is the Chairman of the Nominations, Remuneration and Audit & Risk Committees 

(appointed 5 August 2010). 
Interests in shares:  Nil as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 881,252) 
Interests in options:  Nil (2019: Nil) 

Name:  Stephen (Steve) Frederick Johnston (Appointed a director on 19 October 2011) 
Title:  Non-Executive Director (from 1 December 2019, formerly MD) 
Qualifications:  BAppSc (App. Geol.), MAusIMM 
Experience and expertise:  Steve Johnston resigned as the Managing Director on 30 November 2019 and became 

a Non-Executive Director on 1 December 2019.  Steve is a geologist with extensive 
exploration and mining experience within Australia for commodities including gold, 
base metals and uranium.  He was employed by Alliance since 2003 in varying 
capacities including as General Manager, Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director.  Between 1993 to 2001 Steve held executive roles with ASX listed Croesus 
Mining NL and Exco Resources NL.  Steve is a Corporate Member of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 

Other current directorships:  N/A 
Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Special responsibilities:  Steve is a member of the Audit & Risk Committee (appointed 16 April 2020) 
Interests in shares:  Nil as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 2,117,669) 
Interests in options:  3,000,000 as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 4,000,000) 
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Name:  Kevin J Malaxos 
Title:  Managing Director (appointed 1 December 2019) 
Qualifications:  BAppSc (Mining Eng.) 
Experience and expertise:  Kevin Malaxos is a mining engineer with over 30 years mining experience within 

Australia and South Africa for commodities including gold, nickel, base metals and iron 
ore.  Prior to joining Alliance Resources in 2019, he held senior operational and 
executive roles with various ASX listed explorers and producers and a private mining 
contracting group.  He has worked across both open pit and underground operations, 
and managed project approvals in several commodities.  Kevin is a Member of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 

Other current directorships:  Kevin is also a non-executive director of Maximus Resources Ltd (appointed a director 
13 December 2010). 

Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Interests in shares:  Nil as at 30 June 2020 (2019:Nil) 
Interests in options:  7,000,000 as at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil) 

'Other current directorships' quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships in all 
other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

'Former directorships (in the last 3 years)' quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

Company secretary 
Robert (Bob) Tolliday is a Chartered Accountant with over 30 years' experience in business including accounting, audit, 
corporate finance, corporate recovery, treasury, HR, office management and company secretarial. Bob has worked for 
Gandel Metals Pty Ltd for the past 8 years providing CFO & Company Secretarial Services to a number of listed Mining 
entities under a management services agreement. Prior to this Bob worked for over 10 years as the Company Secretary / 
GM Finance & Admin for the Professional Golfers Association of Australia Ltd (PGA), and before that he was a Senior 
Manager and spent over 13 years working for Chartered Accounting practices KPMG and Pitcher Partners in both Australia 
and the UK. Bob was also a former director and Company Secretary of Octagonal Resources Ltd. 

Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the company's Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 June 2020, and 
the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Full Board Remuneration Committee Audit and Risk Committee 
Attended  Held Attended Held Attended Held 

Mr I Gandel 10 11 - - 3 3 
Mr T Lethlean 11 11 - - 3 3 
Mr S Johnston 11 11 - - 1 1 
Mr K Malaxos 6 6 - - - - 

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office. 

Remuneration report (audited) 
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and senior management/executives (Key 
Management Personnel) remuneration arrangements for the consolidated entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2020, 
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 
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The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
● Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
● Details of remuneration
● Service agreements
● Share-based compensation
● Additional information
● Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The objective of the consolidated entity's and company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance 
is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of 
strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders and conforms with the market best practice for delivery of 
reward. The Board of Directors ('the Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices: 
● competitiveness and reasonableness
● acceptability to shareholders
● performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation
● transparency

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for its directors and 
executives. The performance of the consolidated entity and company depends on the quality of its directors and executives. 
The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel. The committee 
did not engage the services of a remuneration consultant during the year. 

The Remuneration Committee has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and 
complementary to the reward strategy of the consolidated entity and company. 

The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders' interests. The Board have considered that it 
should seek to enhance shareholders' interests by: 
● having economic profit as a core component of plan design
● focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of growth in share price and delivering constant or 

increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value
● attracting and retaining high calibre executives

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives' interests by: 
● rewarding capability and experience
● reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth
● providing a clear structure for earning rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive remuneration 
are separate. 

Non-executive director remuneration 

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors. Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.  The Remuneration 
Committee has agreed in the past to the advice of independent remuneration consultants or remuneration publications to 
ensure non-executive directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The chairman's fees are 
determined independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market. 
The Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration. Non-executive directors 
did not receive share options or other incentives during the reporting period. 

ASX listing rules require that the aggregate non-executive director remuneration shall be determined periodically by a general 
meeting. The most recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 20 November 2018, where the 
shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $500,000. 

17



Alliance Resources Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2020 
 

 

Executive remuneration 

The consolidated entity and company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration based on their position 
and responsibility, which is both fixed and variable. 

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components: 
● base pay and non-monetary benefits
● short-term performance incentives
● share-based payments
● other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave

The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee, based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the consolidated 
entity and comparable market remuneration. 

Executives can receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle 
benefits) where it does not create any additional cost to the consolidated entity and adds additional value to the executive. 

The short-term incentive ('STI') program is designed to align the targets of the business units with the targets of those 
executives in charge of meeting those targets. STI payments are granted to executives based on specific annual targets and 
key performance indicators ('KPI') being achieved. KPI’s include profit contribution, customer satisfaction, leadership 
contribution and exploration management. 

The long-term incentives ('LTI') includes long service leave and share-based payments. These include an increase in 
shareholders' value relative to the entire market and an increase when compared to the consolidated entity's direct 
competitors.  

Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration 

The company’s remuneration policy seeks to reward staff members for their contribution to achieving significant milestones 
but there is no direct link between remuneration paid and growth in the company’s share price or financial performance.  

Voting at the company's 2019 Annual General Meeting ('AGM') 

The company received 97.48% of 'for' votes in relation to its remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2019. The 
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration policies. 

Details of remuneration 

Amounts of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity are set out in the following tables. 

The key management personnel of the consolidated entity or group consisted of the directors of Alliance Resources Limited 
and the following person: 
● Mr R Tolliday (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary)
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Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Long-term 
benefits 

Share-
based 

payments 
Termination 

benefits 

Cash salary Consulting Non- Super- 
Long 

service Equity- Termination  
and fees Fees monetary annuation leave settled payments Total 

2020 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive 
Directors: 
Mr I Gandel 85,000 - - 8,075 - - - 93,075 
Mr T Lethlean 62,633 - - 5,950 - - - 68,583 
Mr S Johnston 28,933 - - 2,673 - - - 31,606 

Executive 
Directors: 
Mr K Malaxos 152,064 - - 13,819 1,540 158,898 - 326,321 
Mr S Johnston 
(resigned) 107,707 - - 10,416 (84,889) 1,697 86,609 121,540 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel: 
Mr R Tolliday* - - - - - 1,200 - 1,200 

436,337 - - 40,933 (83,349)  161,795 86,609 642,325 

* The Gandel Metals Trust employed Mr Tolliday. The Gandel Metals Trust is an entity associated with Mr I Gandel. 
Included in the fees paid in terms of The Gandel Metals management service agreement to The Gandel Metals Trust 
are professional fees of $310,200 for accounting and company secretarial services including services provided by Mr 
Tolliday. All charges were on commercial terms.

Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Long-term 
benefits 

Share-
based 

payments 
Termination 

benefits 

Cash salary Consulting Non- Super- 
Long 

service Equity- Termination  
and fees Fees monetary annuation leave settled payments Total 

2019 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive 
Directors: 
Mr I Gandel 85,000 - - 8,075 - - - 93,075 
Mr T Lethlean 80,000 - - 7,600 - - - 87,600 

Executive 
Directors: 
Mr S Johnston 271,005 - - 25,000 (13,207)  13,949 - 296,747 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel: 
Mr R Tolliday* - - - - - 3,715 - 3,715 

436,005 - - 40,675 (13,207)  17,664 - 481,137 

* The Gandel Metals Trust employed Mr Tolliday. The Gandel Metals Trust is an entity associated with Mr I Gandel. 
Included in the fees paid in terms of The Gandel Metals management service agreement to The Gandel Metals Trust 
are professional fees of $310,200 for accounting and company secretarial services including services provided by Mr 
Tolliday. All charges were on commercial terms.
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI 
Name 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Non-Executive Directors: 
Mr I Gandel 100% 100% - - - - 
Mr T Lethlean 100% 100% - - - - 
Mr S Johnston 100% - - - - - 

Executive Directors: 
Mr K Malaxos 51% - - - 49% - 
Mr S Johnston (resigned) 99% 95% - - 1% 5% 

Other Key Management 
Personnel: 
Mr R Tolliday - - - - 100% 100% 

Service agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Details 
of these agreements are as follows: 

Name:  Kevin Malaxos 
Title:  Managing Director 
Agreement commenced:  1 December 2019 
Term of agreement:  3 years 
Details:  ~ Remuneration - $279,000 (excluding Superannuation)  this excludes - Benefits of 

Employment (including Options) and reimbursement of various expenses including 
parking, memberships & subscriptions and mobile phone charges (capped). 

~ Termination – The contract is capable of termination on standard employment terms, 
which include 6 months' notice (3 months if within the first twelve months of 
employment) if terminated by the Company (without cause) or by Mr Malaxos. The 
Board retains the discretion to make a payment in lieu of notice equal to 3 months' 
salary plus all accrued benefits up to the end of the notice period. 

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct. 

Share-based compensation 

Issue of shares 

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year 
ended 30 June 2020. 
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Options 

The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors and other key 
management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows: 

Fair value 
 Vesting date and per option 

Grant date  exercisable date  Expiry date  Exercise price  at grant date 

30 November 2016  30 Nov 2016  31 August 2019 $0.1192 $0.0280 
30 November 2016  1 September 2017  31 August 2020 $0.1592 $0.0280 
30 November 2016  1 September 2018  31 August 2021 $0.1992 $0.0280 
30 November 2016  1 September 2019  31 August 2022 $0.2392 $0.0280 
2 April 2017  2 April 2017  31 March 2020 $0.1192 $0.0200 
2 April 2017  1 April 2018  31 March 2021 $0.1592 $0.0200 
2 April 2017  1 April 2019  31 March 2022 $0.1992 $0.0190 
2 April 2017  1 April 2020  31 March 2023 $0.2392 $0.0190 
1 December 2019  1 December 2019  30 November 2022 $0.1200 $0.0500 
1 December 2019  1 December 2019  30 November 2022 $0.1600 $0.0400 
1 December 2019  1 December 2021  30 November 2024 $0.1600 $0.0560 
1 December 2019  1 December 2021  30 November 2024 $0.2000 $0.0460 
1 December 2019  1 July 2021*  1 July 2024* $0.2000 $0.0370 
1 December 2019  1 October 2021*  1 October 2024* $0.2000 $0.0440 
1 December 2019  1 July 2022*  1 July 2025* $0.2000 $0.0510 

* Note: The vesting date and expiry date for these options are related to non-market conditions and therefore reflect
management’s best estimate of when the related milestones will be achieved.

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. 

Executives, staff and approved specialist advisors/contractors who are involved with the business are all entitled to participate 
in the Employee Share Options Plan (ESOP). 

As at 30 June 2020 there were 7,000,000 (2019: 4,000,000) unlisted options issued over ordinary shares of Alliance 
Resources Limited granted to the Managing Director and 4,850,000 (2019: 2,400,000) unlisted options granted to Executives, 
Staff and Contractors.  

The number of options over ordinary shares granted to and vested by directors and other key management personnel during 
the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out below: 

Number of Number of Number of Number of 
options options options options 
granted granted vested vested 

during the during the during the during the 
year year year year 

Name 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Mr S Johnston - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Mr R Tolliday - - 250,000 250,000 
Mr K Malaxos 7,000,000 - 2,000,000 - 

* The Terms of the options are as follows:
- The Options were granted for no consideration
- Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights
- The exercise price of the Options was determined by the directors
- Each Option converts to one ordinary share
- The vesting date was the date that the options are able to be exercised
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Additional information 
The earnings of the consolidated entity or group for the five years to 30 June 2020 are summarised below: 

2020  2019  2018  2017  2016 
$'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Revenue and other income 69 60 150 375 50,316 
EBITDA (1,629)  (1,613)  (1,260)  (1,133)  47,931 
EBIT (1,751)  (1,650)  (1,273)  (1,150)  47,920 

2020  2019 2018 2017 2016 

Share price at financial year end (cents) 17.50 9.80 9.10 8.80 4.00 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per 
share) (1.13) (1.16) (1.22) (1.10) 11.61 

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 

Shareholding 
The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity or group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 

Balance at Received Balance at 
the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of 

the year  remuneration Additions other the year 
Ordinary shares 
Mr I Gandel 49,436,157 - 78,531,916 -  127,968,073 
Mr T Lethlean 881,252 - - (881,252)  - 
Mr S Johnston 2,117,669 - 1,000,000 (3,117,669)  - 
Mr K Malaxos - - - -  - 
Mr R Tolliday 100,000 - - (100,000)  - 

52,535,078 - 79,531,916 (4,098,921)  127,968,073 

Option holding 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity or group, including their personally related parties, is set 
out below: 

Balance at Expired/ Balance at 
the start of forfeited/ the end of 

the year Granted Exercised other the year 
Options over ordinary shares 
Mr S Johnston 4,000,000 - (1,000,000)  - 3,000,000 
Mr K Malaxos - 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 
Mr R Tolliday 1,000,000 - - (250,000)  750,000 

5,000,000 7,000,000 (1,000,000)  (250,000)  10,750,000 

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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Shares under option 
Unissued ordinary shares of Alliance Resources Limited held under option as at 30 June 2020 are as follows: 

Exercise  Number 
Grant date  Expiry date price  under option 

30 November 2016  31 August 2020 $0.1592 1,000,000 
30 November 2016  31 August 2021 $0.1992 1,000,000 
30 November 2016  31 August 2022 $0.2392 1,000,000 
2 April 2017  31 March 2021 $0.1592 550,000 
2 April 2017  31 March 2022 $0.1992 550,000 
2 April 2017  31 March 2023 $0.2392 550,000 
20 June 2019  31 January 2022 $0.1192 50,000 
20 June 2019  1 February 2023 $0.1592 50,000 
20 June 2019  1 February 2024 $0.1992 50,000 
20 June 2019  1 February 2025 $0.2392 50,000 
1 December 2019  30 November 2022 $0.1200 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  30 November 2022 $0.1600 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  30 November 2024 $0.1600 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  30 November 2024 $0.2000 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  1 July 2024* $0.2000 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  1 October 2024* $0.2000 1,000,000 
1 December 2019  1 July 2025* $0.2000 1,000,000 

11,850,000 

* Note: The vesting date and expiry date for these options are related to non-market conditions and therefore reflect 
management’s best estimate of when the related milestones will be achieved.

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the 
company or of any other body corporate. 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
The following ordinary shares of Alliance Resources Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2020 and up to the 
date of this report on the exercise of options granted: 

Exercise  Number of 
Date options granted price  shares issued 

30 November 2016 $0.1192 1,000,000 

For the above exercised options, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $0.14. 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 

The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of the 
company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 

In recognising the need for the highest standard of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Alliance support 
the principle of good corporate governance. As such, Alliance Resources Limited have adopted the third edition of the 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations which was released by the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
on 27 March 2014 and became effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2014.  In February 2019, the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council introduced the 4th Edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles, which will apply to 
the Company for its financial year commencing 1 July 2020.  The Company will review its corporate governance practices 
against the 4th Edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and report against these as part of its annual reporting 
for financial year 2021.   

The consolidated entity's annual Corporate Governance Statement has been published and released to ASX separately. 
The Corporate Governance Statement is available on the Alliance website at 
http://www.allianceresources.com.au/site/corporate/corporate-governance. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 

The company has not, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the company or 
any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the company 
or any related entity. 

Risk management 

The company takes a proactive approach to risk management including monitoring actual performance against budgets and 
forecast and monitoring investment performance. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, 
are identified on a timely basis and that the consolidated entity’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and 
opportunities identified by the Board. 

Proceedings on behalf of the company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 

Non-audit services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 26 to the financial statements. 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
● all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity

of the auditor; and 
● none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company, 
acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards. 

24



Alliance Resources Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2020 
 

 

Officers of the company who are former directors of BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

There are no officers of the company who are former directors of BDO Audit Pty Ltd. 

Auditor's independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this Directors' report. 

Auditor 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Rounding of amounts 

The company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
Ian Gandel 
Chairman 

30 September 2020 
Melbourne 
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Standards Legislation. 

  

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY WAI AW TO THE DIRECTORS OF ALLIANCE RESOURCES LIMITED 

As lead auditor of Alliance Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to the 

best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in

relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Alliance Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 

period. 

Wai Aw 

Director 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

Melbourne, 30 September 2020 
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Financial Report - General information

The financial statements cover Alliance Resources Limited as a consolidated entity or group consisting of Alliance Resources 
Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Alliance Resources Limited's functional and presentation currency. 

Alliance Resources Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is: 

Suite 3, 51-55 City Road 
Southbank, VIC, 3006 
Tel: +61 3 9697 9090 
Fax: +61 3 9697 9091 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity or group's operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors' report, which is not part of the financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 30 September 2020. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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Consolidated 
Note 2020 2019 

$'000 $'000 

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

 

Revenue 4 19 60 

Other income 5 50 -  

Expenses 
Depreciation expense 6 (121)  (37) 
Expense of share options granted 20 (171)  (22) 
Tenement costs abandoned (321)  (441) 
Occupancy expenses (23)  (20) 
Administration expenses (683)  (836) 
Legal expenses (191)  (13) 
Director fees (193)  (196) 
Company secretarial (70)  (59) 
Marketing expenses (46)  (86) 
Finance costs 6 (1)  -  

Loss before income tax (1,751)  (1,650) 

Income tax expense 7 -  -  

Loss after income tax for the year attributable to the owners of Alliance 
Resources Limited 21 (1,751) (1,650) 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Change in fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI 10 47 (956) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 47 (956) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of Alliance 
Resources Limited (1,704) (2,606) 

Cents  Cents 

Basic loss per share 32 (1.13)  (1.16) 
Diluted loss per share 32 (1.13)  (1.16) 
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Consolidated 
Note 2020 2019 

$'000 $'000 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

 

Assets 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,561 3,693 
Trade and other receivables 9 96 153 
Other assets 63 22 

Total current assets 1,720 3,868 

Non-current assets 
Other receivables 15 15 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 10 341 294 
Property, plant and equipment 11 696 794 
Right-of-use assets 12 124 -  
Exploration and evaluation 13 12,562 9,810 

Total non-current assets 13,738 10,913 

Total assets 15,458 14,781 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 14 424 264 
Lease liabilities 15 19 -  
Employee benefits 16 14 92 

Total current liabilities 457 356 

Non-current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 17 106 -  
Employee benefits 18 5 1 

Total non-current liabilities 111 1 

Total liabilities 568 357 

Net assets 14,890 14,424 

Equity 
Contributed equity 19 53,814 51,815 
Reserves 20 (2,293)  (2,511) 
Accumulated losses 21 (36,631)  (34,880) 

Total equity 14,890 14,424 
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

 

Contributed 
Non-

controlling 
 
Accumulated Reserves 

Total equity Equity Interest  Losses 
Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 47,498 904 (33,404)  (1,577)  13,421 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (1,650)  - (1,650) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax - - - (956) (956) 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (1,650)  (956)  (2,606) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 19) 4,320 - - - 4,320 
Share-based payments (note 33) - - - 22 22 
Transfer of JV interest received (3)  - - - (3) 
Acquisition of Non-controlling interest - (904)  174 - (730) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 51,815 - (34,880)  (2,511)  14,424 

Contributed 
Non-

controlling 
 
Accumulated Reserves 

Total equity Equity Interest  Losses 
Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 51,815 - (34,880)  (2,511)  14,424 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (1,751)  - (1,751) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax - - - 47 47 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (1,751)  47 (1,704) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 19) 1,999 - - - 1,999 
Share-based payments (note 33) - - - 171 171 

Balance at 30 June 2020 53,814 - (36,631)  (2,293)  14,890 
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Consolidated 
Note 2020 2019 

$'000 $'000 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (1,105)  (1,219) 
Interest received 19 59 
Finance costs 1 -  
Cashflow Boost 50 -  

Net cash used in operating activities 31 (1,035)  (1,160) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment 11 -  (775) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation 13 (3,073)  (3,309) 
Payments of security deposits -  (15) 
Purchase of NCI (Wilcherry Project) -  (730) 

Net cash used in investing activities (3,073)  (4,829) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital raising 19 2,060 4,584 
Capital raising transaction costs 19 (61)  (310) 
Repayment of lease liabilities (23)  -  

Net cash from financing activities 1,976 4,274 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,132)  (1,715) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 3,693 5,408 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 1,561 3,693 
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the respective 
notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 

Going Concern 
For the year ended 30 June 2020, the consolidated entity made a loss after taxation of $1,751,000 and net cash outflows 
from operating activities of $1,035,000, net cash outflows from investing activities of $3,073,000 and net cash inflows of 
$1,976,000 from financing activities. At 30 June 2020, the consolidated entity reported cash and cash equivalents of 
$1,561,000. 

The directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity, the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities through the normal course of business for the 
following reasons: 

• The consolidated entity has prepared a twelve-month cash flow budget which include additional cash outflows for
exploration activity, which can be deferred in part if there are delays in raising capital or insufficient capital is raised to fund 
forecast expenditure. 

• The consolidated entity has a history of successfully raising funds. The consolidated entity has the ability to raise further
capital without shareholder approval under ASX Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.1A. 

• The major shareholder entities associated with Mr Gandel, namely Gandel Metals Pty Ltd (‘GM’) and Abbotsleigh Pty Ltd
(‘Abbotsleigh’) who now own 71.77% of the company, have committed to participate in any capital raisings for the next 12 
months, thus providing the company with a solid platform to raise sufficient capital to continue as a going concern. 

On the basis that sufficient funding is expected to be raised to meet the consolidated entity’s expenditure forecasts, the 
directors consider that the consolidated entity remains a going concern and these financial statements have been prepared 
on this basis 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the 
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Parent entity information 

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 29. 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Alliance Resources Limited 
('company' or 'parent entity' or ‘Alliance’) as at 30 June 2020 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
Alliance Resources Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated 
entity' or ‘group’. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity 
when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity. 

Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
consolidated entity normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity normal operating cycle; it 
is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 

Rounding of amounts 

The company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars (apparent differences may occur due to rounding), or in certain 
cases, the nearest dollar. 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity: 

AASB 16 Leases 

The group has adopted AASB16 Leases from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees 
eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset is capitalised 
in the statement of financial position, measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such 
as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-of-use' 
asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised 
lease is also recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition is replaced 
with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease 
liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 
16 are higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and 
depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments are 
separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For 
lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases.  
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Impact of adoption 
AASB 16 was adopted using the modified retrospective approach #1 and as such the comparatives have not been 
restated. 

When adopting AASB 16 from 1 July 2019, the consolidated entity has applied the following practical expedients: 
● excluding any initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets
● using hindsight in determining the lease term when the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease

The company's wholly owned subsidiary, ACE, has a Ground lease for land on which its accommodation village has been 
built.  Using the modified retrospective approach #1 this land, being the Right-of-Use asset, has been treated as being 
equal in value to the Lease Liability on the initial application date, being 1 July 2019. 

The impact of adoption on opening accumulated losses as at 1 July 2019 was $142,439. 

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

There are no other standards that are yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity in its current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus Disease 2019 ('COVID-19' or 'the virus') 
pandemic has had, or may have, on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the 
mining products, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. Other than as 
addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements 
or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity unfavourably 
as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Share-based payment transactions 
The consolidated entity or group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial 
or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The 
accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 

Fair value measurement hierarchy 
The consolidated entity or group is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what 
is significant to fair value and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 
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Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The consolidated entity or group assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity or group and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions. 

Income tax 
The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 

Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement 
is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying 
asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included 
in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors 
considered may include the importance of the asset to the consolidated entity's operations; comparison of terms and 
conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; 
and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in 
circumstances. 

Incremental borrowing rate  
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to discount 
future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a rate is 
based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 

Note 3. Operating segments 

Identification of reportable operating segments 

The consolidated entity operates in the mineral exploration and mining industry in Australia. 

The consolidated entity has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments whereby segment information is presented using a 
'management approach'. Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board 
of Directors that are used to make strategic decisions. The consolidated entity operates predominately in one geographical 
location. The consolidated entity does not have any operating segments with discrete financial information. The consolidated 
entity does not have any customers, and all the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities are located within Australia.  

The Board of Directors review internal management reports on a monthly basis that is consistent with the information provided 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of cashflows. 
As a result no reconciliation is required because the information as presented is what is used by the Board of Directors to 
make strategic decisions including assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 
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Accounting policy for operating segments 

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Board / Managing Director who are the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). 
The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

Note 4. Revenue 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Interest 19 60 

Accounting policy for revenue recognition 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Note 5. Other income 

Government assistance - Covid19 

As part of its response to COVID-19, the Australian Government, in March 2020, announced various stimulus measures to 
ease the burden experienced by businesses as a result of the economic fallout from the coronavirus lockdown and social 
distancing measures. 

The ‘Boosting Cash Flow for Employers’ measure provided a tax-free ‘payment’ to eligible SMEs with aggregated annual 
turnover of less than $50 million if they employed people between 1 January 2020 and 30 June 2020. Alliance was eligible 
for the Cash Flow Boost and received benefits totalling $50,000 for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Cashflow Boost 50 -  
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Note 6. Expenses 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 

Depreciation 
Plant and equipment 98 37 
Right-of-use Assets 23 -  

Total depreciation 121 37 

Finance costs 
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on lease liabilities 1 -  

Superannuation expense 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 50 45 

Employee benefits expense excluding superannuation 
Employee benefits expense excluding superannuation 374 335 

Note 7. Income tax  

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable/receivable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

* When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

* When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the
timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
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Tax Consolidation 

Alliance Resources Limited (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax 
consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group 
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the 'separate 
taxpayer within group' approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax 
consolidated group. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax 
consolidated group. 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

The components of Income tax expense /(benefit) comprise: 
Current income tax benefit (1,307)  (1,085) 
Adjustments in respect of previous years (250)  (62) 
Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 873 637 
Deferred tax assets not brought to account 684 510 

Income tax expense / (benefit) -  - 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) and tax at the statutory rate 
Loss before income tax expense (1,751)  (1,650) 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) (481)  (454) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Share-based payment expense 46 6 
Other non-deductible expenses 1 -  

(434)  (448) 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (250)  (62) 
Deferred tax assets not brought to account 684 510 

Income tax expense / (benefit) -  - 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Tax losses not recognised 
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 41,497 35,833 

Potential tax benefit @ 27.5% 11,412 9,854 

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial position. These tax losses 
can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, the same business test is passed. 
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Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognised 
Deferred tax liabilities comprises: 

Exploration and evaluation (2,851)  (2,043) 
Accrued Income -  (1) 
Right-of-use Asset (34)  - 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,885) (2,044) 

Deferred tax assets comprises: 
Provisions and accruals 20 39 
Equity raising costs 65 95 
Lease Liability 34 - 
Tax losses 11,412 9,854 

Total deferred tax assets 11,531 9,988 

The above net potential tax benefit has not been recognised in the statement of financial position as the recovery of this 
benefit is uncertain. 

Note 8. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Cash at bank 1,486 3,618 
Cash on deposit 75 75 

1,561 3,693 

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Note 9. Current assets - trade and other receivables 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Trade receivables -  1 
Other receivables 1 60 

1 61 

Accrued revenue 1 4 
GST receivable 94 88 

96 153 
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Accounting policy for trade and other receivables 

Classification as receivables 

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and then subsequently measured at amortised costs, less provision for 
expected credit losses. 

In determining the recoverability of a trade or other receivable using the expected credit loss model, the group performs a 
risk analysis considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, contract 
provisions, letter of credit and timing of payment. 

Fair value of receivables 

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their fair value. 

Impairment and risk exposure 

Information about the impairment of receivables, their credit quality and the group's exposure to credit risk, foreign currency 
risk and interest rate risk can be found in note 23. 

Accounting policy for Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 

Note 10. Non-current assets - financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Ordinary shares - listed securities 3,984 3,984 
Revaluation of investments to fair value (3,643)  (3,690) 

341 294 

Reconciliation 
Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below: 

Opening fair value 294 1,250 
Movement in fair value 47 (956) 

Closing fair value 341 294 

Refer to note 24 for further information on fair value measurement. 
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Note: The ordinary shares are listed equity securities in SciDev Ltd (ASX Code: SDV) (formerly known as Intec Limited), 
Tyranna Resources Ltd (ASX Code: TYX) and Centennial Mining Ltd (ASX Code: CTL) (formerly known as A1 Consolidated 
Gold Limited). The SDV shares were acquired on sale of investment in Encore Pty Ltd on 23 October 2006. The CTL shares 
were obtained on the delisting of Octagonal Resources Ltd ("Octagonal') on 23 February 2016, at which time Alliance 
received CTL shares and cash as consideration for the disposal of its Octagonal shares, and also obtained pursuant to a 
rights issue in August 2016. On 21 March 2019 Administrators were appointed to CTL and the company subsequently entered 
into a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA) on 17 May 2019. As such, CTL shares have been valued at $Nil pending the 
final outcome of the DOCA. The TYX shares were purchased in September and October 2016 via on-market purchases and 
also an off-market purchase. Shares in TYX and SDV are valued by reference to the quoted market price at the close of 
business on balance date and are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Accounting policy for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Investments and other financial assets 

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial 
measurement. Such assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their 
classification. Classification is determined based on both the business model within which such assets are held and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset unless, an accounting mismatch is being avoided. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the 
consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is written off. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include equity investments which the consolidated entity 
intends to hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to classify them as such upon initial recognition. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon 
the consolidated entity's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without 
undue cost or effort to obtain. 

For financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is recognised within 
other comprehensive income. In all other cases, the loss allowance is recognised in profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 
The consolidated entity subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.  Where management has elected to 
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss.  Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised 
in profit or loss as other income when the company's right to receive payments is established. 
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Note 11. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Plant and equipment - at cost 917 917 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (221)  (123) 

696 794 

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 

Plant &  
Equipment  

Consolidated $'000  

Balance at 1 July 2018 56 
Additions 775 
Depreciation expense (37)  

Balance at 30 June 2019 794 
Depreciation expense (98)  

Balance at 30 June 2020 696 

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment 

All classes of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment write-
downs. Depreciation is calculated on either a prime cost basis or a reducing balance basis to write off the net cost of each 
item of property, plant and equipment over its expected useful life to the consolidated entity. Estimates of remaining useful 
lives are made on a regular basis for all assets. 

Note 12. Non-current assets - right-of-use assets 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Property lease - right-of-use 147 -  
Less: Accumulated depreciation (23)  -  

124 -  

There were no additions to the right-of-use asset during the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Accounting policy for right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity or group expects to obtain ownership of the leased 
asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to 
impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The consolidated entity or group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-
term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed 
to profit or loss as incurred. 

Note 13. Non-current assets - exploration and evaluation 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward - WA 91 261 

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward - Wilcherry Project 12,471 9,549 

12,562 9,810 

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 

Exploration 
Consolidated $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 6,942 
Expenditure during the year 3,309 
Tenement costs abandoned (441) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 9,810 
Expenditure during the year 3,073 
Tenement costs abandoned (321) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 12,562 

Notes: 
The recoverability of the carry forward amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective area of interest. 

The Wilcherry Project area is located within the southern part of the Gawler Craton in the northern Eyre Peninsula and 

currently comprises six exploration licences covering approximately 1,000 km2. 

Accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is carried 
forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through 
the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration activities are continuing in 
an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred 
thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made. 
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Note 14. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Trade payables 327 201 
Accrued expenses 84 50 
PAYG payable 13 13 

424 264 

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 

Accounting policy for trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Note 15. Current liabilities - lease liabilities 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Lease liability - Land lease liability 19 -  

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 

Note 16. Current liabilities - employee benefits 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Annual Leave 14 7 
Long service leave -  85 

14 92 

Accounting policy for employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services up to the 
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Non-accumulating sick 
leave is expensed to profit or loss when incurred. 

Defined contribution superannuation expense 

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Note 17. Non-current liabilities - lease liabilities 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Lease liability - Land Lease Liability 106 -  

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments. 

Accounting policy for lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity or group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments 
comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the 
option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 
is fully written down. 

Note 18. Non-current liabilities - employee benefits 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Long service leave 5 1 

Accounting policy for other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on national corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows. 

Note 19. Equity - contributed equity 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 2020 2019 

Shares Shares $'000 $'000 

Ordinary shares - fully paid 178,300,080 153,038,332 53,814 51,815 

45



Alliance Resources Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2020 
 

Note 19. Equity - contributed equity (continued) 
 

 

On 30 August 2019 the former MD, Steve Johnston, exercised his 1st tranche of options resulting in Alliance receiving 
$119,200 and 1,000,000 new shares being issued. 

On 11 May 2020, Alliance announced a non-renounceable rights issue ('Entitlement Offer') entitling shareholders to subscribe 
for one new share for every six shares held on the record date of 14 May 2020 at an issue price of $0.08 per share.  The 
Entitlement Offer closed on 28 May 2020 resulting in 24,261,748 (approx. 94% take up of the rights offer) new shares being 
issued with Alliance receiving $1,940,939 minus costs. 

Funds raised through the Entitlement Offer are to be applied to drilling, feasibility study work, offer expenses and working 
capital. 

Movements in ordinary share capital 

Details  Date Shares  Issue price $'000 

Balance  1 July 2018 104,293,923 47,498 
Non-renounceable entitlement offer  30 June 2019 48,255,263 $0.0950 4,584 
Ineligible shareholders  30 June 2019 489,146 $0.0950 46 
Costs associated with the capital raising  30 June 2019 (310) 
JV (ACE) interest  13 March 2019 (3) 

Balance  30 June 2019 153,038,332 51,815 
Non-renounceable entitlement offer  4 June 2020 24,206,582 $0.0800 1,937 
Ineligible shareholders  4 June 2020 55,166 $0.0800 4 
Costs associated with the capital raising  30 June 2020 (61) 
MD options exercised  30 August 2019 1,000,000 $0.1192 119 

Balance  30 June 2020 178,300,080 53,814 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 

Share buy-back 

There is no current on-market share buy-back. 

Capital risk management 

The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital. 

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce 
debt. 

The consolidated entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as 
value adding relative to the current parent entity's share price at the time of the investment.  
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The consolidated entity is not subject to any financing arrangement covenants. 

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2019 Annual Report. 

Accounting policy for issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 

Note 20. Equity - reserves 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

FVOCI reserve (2,616)  (2,663) 
Share-based payments reserve 323 152 

(2,293)  (2,511) 

FVOCI reserve 

The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 

Share-based payments reserve 

The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their 
remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services. 

Movements in reserves 
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 
FVOCI  
reserve Total 

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 130 (1,707)  (1,577) 
Revaluation - gross - (956)  (956) 
Cost of share options issued 22 - 22 

Balance at 30 June 2019 152 (2,663)  (2,511) 
Revaluation - gross - 47 47 
Cost of share options issued 171 - 171 

Balance at 30 June 2020 323 (2,616)  (2,293) 
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Note 21. Equity - accumulated losses 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (34,879)  (33,403) 
Gain on acquisition of non-controlling interest -  174 
Loss after income tax expense for the year (1,751)  (1,650) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (36,631)  (34,880) 

ACE acquired the residual interest of the Wilcherry Project on 13 March 2019. 

Note 22. Equity - dividends 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Note 23. Financial Instruments 

Financial risk management objectives 

The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, 
ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives ('finance') under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
('the Board'). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity or group and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the 
consolidated entity or group's operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 

Market risk 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the group's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commitments, assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not 
the group's functional currency. 

The group currently operates in Australia only, thus at present it has minimal foreign exchange exposure. The group will 
potentially have greater exposure in the future as most commodities that the group explores for, are traded in US Dollars.  

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the group's financial position will be adversely affected by movements in interest rates. 
Interest rate risk on short term deposits is not considered to be a material risk due to the short term nature of these financial 
instruments. 

At 30 June 2020 the group had the following cash instruments exposed to interest rate risk - Cash and cash equivalents 
totalling $1,561,120 (2019: $3,692,825). 
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The sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments held at balance date, following a movement in interest rates, with all  
other variables held constant. A 1% interest rate change sensitivity is based on reasonably possible changes over a financial 
year. The post-tax profit or loss and effect on equity assuming a 1% interest rate change is $15,611 (2019: $36,928). 

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable rate items outstanding: 

2020 2019 
Weighted 

average 
interest rate Balance 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance 
Consolidated % $'000 % $'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1.22% 1,561 1.27% 3,693 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 1,561 3,693 

Price risk 

The group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. The listed investments are traded on the ASX. 

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s equity securities price risk. Also included is the 
effect on profit or loss after tax and equity if these prices at that date had been 25 basis points higher or lower with all other 
variables held constant as a sensitivity analysis. 

Given the current volatility in both Australian and international stock markets a sensitivity of 25% has been selected and is 
considered reasonable.  

Impact of basis points 
increase 

Impact of basis points 
decrease 

Consolidated - 2020 
Basis points 

change -% 
Effect on 

equity 
Basis points 

change - % 
Effect on 

equity 

Financial assets - SDV 25 13,837 (25)  (13,837) 
Financial assets - TYX 25 71,394 (25)  (71,394) 

85,231 (85,231) 

Impact of basis points 
increase 

Impact of basis points 
decrease 

Consolidated - 2019 
Basis points 

change -% 
Effect on 

equity 
Basis points 

change - % 
Effect on 

equity 

Financial assets - SDV 25 2,051 (25)  (2,051) 
Financial assets - TYX 25 71,394 (25)  (71,394) 

73,445 (73,445) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, 
confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The consolidated entity obtains guarantees where appropriate to 
mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to 
the financial statements. The consolidated entity does not hold any collateral. 
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In determining the recoverability of a trade or other receivable using the expected credit loss model, the group performs a 
risk analysis considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, contract 
provisions, letter of credit and timing of payment. 

Liquidity risk 

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 

The consolidated entity or group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing 
facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. 

Financing arrangements 

No financing facilities are currently in place. 

Hedging 

No hedging is currently in place. 

Remaining contractual maturities 

The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less 
Between 1 

and 2 years 
Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2020 %  $'000 $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 

Non-derivatives 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables - 327 - - - 327 
Accrued expenses - 84 - - - 84 
PAYG Payable - 13 - - - 13 

Interest-bearing - variable 
Lease liability - 19 19 64 23 125 

Total non-derivatives 443 19 64 23 549 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less 
Between 1 

and 2 years 
Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated - 2019 %  $'000 $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 

Non-derivatives 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables - 201 - - - 201 
Accrued expenses - 50 - - - 50 
PAYG Payable - 13 - - - 13 

Total non-derivatives 264 - - - 264 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
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Fair value of financial instruments 

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of 
financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market interest rate that is 
available for similar financial instruments. 

Note 24. Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value hierarchy 

The following tables detail the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three 
level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Consolidated - 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 
Ordinary shares 341 - - 341 

Total assets 341 - - 341 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Consolidated - 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 
Ordinary shares 294 - - 294 

Total assets 294 - - 294 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 

Accounting policy for fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and transfers 
between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
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Note 25. Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Alliance Resources Limited during the financial year: 

Chairman - Non-executive and Non-independent 
Mr I Gandel 
Executive Director 
Mr K Malaxos (commenced 1 December 2019) 
Mr S Johnston (resigned 30 November 2019) 
Non-executive Director 
Mr T Lethlean 
Mr S Johnston (commenced 1 December 2019) 

Other key management personnel 
The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of 
the consolidated entity or group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year: 

Position  Name 
Managing Director  Mr S Johnston (resigned 30 November 2019) 
Managing Director  Mr K Malaxos (commenced 1 December 2019) 
Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary  Mr R Tolliday 

Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
or group is set out below: 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 

$ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 436,337 436,005 
Post-employment benefits 40,933 40,675 
Long-term benefits (83,349)  (13,207) 
Termination benefits 86,609 -  
Share-based payments 161,795 17,664 

642,325 481,137 

The following transactions occurred with key management personnel and their related parties: 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Payment for goods and services: 
Transactions with Gandel Metals Pty Ltd (an entity associated with director, Ian Gandel): 
Financial & Company Secretarial support services 310,200 310,200 
Office & Administration costs 65,689 65,412 
Geological services 229,550 240,960 

Gandel Metals Pty Ltd total 605,439 616,572 
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Note 26. Remuneration of Auditors 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by BDO Audit Pty Ltd, the auditor of 
the company: 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 

$ $ 

Audit services - BDO Audit Pty Ltd (2019: BDO East Coast Partnership) 
Audit or review of the financial statements 50,957 53,543 

Other services - BDO East Coast Partnership 
Preparation of the tax return 13,000 14,080 
Provision of tax advice in respect to the acquisition of the remaining interest in the mining 
tenements associated with WPJV and the Kimba accommodation village -  2,744 

13,000 16,824 

63,957 70,367 

The BDO entity performing the audit of the group transitioned from BDO East Coast Partnership to BDO Audit Pty Ltd. The 
disclosures include amounts received or due and receivable by BDO East Coast Partnership and BDO Audit Pty Ltd.  

Note 27. Commitments 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Exploration commitments 
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
Within one year 1,716 1,358 
One to five years 2,046 593 

3,762 1,951 

Exploration commitments - The consolidated entity must meet tenement expenditure commitments to maintain them until 
they expire, are otherwise disposed of, or are renegotiated. Exploration licenses have been granted for between 1 and 5 
years for all States that the group operates in.  

Note 28. Related Party Transactions 

Parent entity 
Alliance Resources Limited is the parent entity. 

Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 30. 

Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 25 and the remuneration report included in the 
directors' report. 
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Note 29. Parent Entity Information 

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

Parent 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Loss after income tax (1,291)  (1,472) 

Total comprehensive income (1,291)  (1,472) 

Statement of financial position 

Parent 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Total current assets 1,633 3,773 

Total assets 15,066 14,552 

Total current liabilities 188 208 

Total liabilities 195 209 

Equity 
Contributed equity 53,814 51,815 
FVOCI reserve (2,616)  (2,663) 
Share-based payments reserve 323 152 
Accumulated losses (36,650)  (34,959) 

Total equity 14,871 14,345 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 other than Alliance (NSW) 
Pty Ltd for which a deed of cross guarantee exists. Alliance (NSW) trade creditors at 30 June 2020 amounted to $267 (2019: 
$Nil). 

Contingent liabilities 
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (2019: $Nil). 

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2020 (2019: $Nil). 

Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity or group, as disclosed in note 
1, except for the following: 
● Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
● Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an 

indicator of an impairment of the investment.

54



Alliance Resources Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2020 
 

 

Note 30. Interest In Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policies described in the notes: 

Ownership interest 
 Principal place of business / 2020 2019 

Name  Country of incorporation % % 

Alliance (NSW) Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 
Alliance Resources (WA) Pty Ltd (formerly Alliance 
(SA) Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 100% 
Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd (formerly Alliance Craton 
Explorer Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 100% 
Alliance (Chile) Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 

Note 31. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Loss after income tax expense for the year (1,751)  (1,650) 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation Plant and equipment 98 37 
Depreciation Leasehold improvements right of use assets 23 
Share-based payments 171 22 
Tenement costs abandoned 321 441 

Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
Decrease in trade and other receivables 57 14 
Increase in other assets (41)  55 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 126 (71) 
Decrease in employee benefits (73)  (8) 
Increase in accruals 34 -  

Net cash used in operating activities (1,035)  (1,160) 

Note 32. Loss per share 

Consolidated 
2020 2019 
$'000 $'000 

Loss after income tax (1,751)  (1,650) 

Number Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss per share 155,535,712 142,443,187 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted loss per share 155,535,712 142,443,187 

Cents  Cents 

Basic loss per share (1.13)  (1.16) 
Diluted loss per share (1.13)  (1.16) 
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Accounting policy for loss per share 

Basic loss per share 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to the owners of Alliance Resources Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

Diluted loss per share 
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.  
As the company has incurred a loss per AASB 133 Earnings Per Share no adjustments have been made regarding the 
granted options as a reduction of the loss would be anti-dilutive. 

Note 33. Share-Based Payments 

An Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) has been established by the company and approved by shareholders at a general 
meeting, whereby the company may, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committees, grant options over ordinary shares 
in the company to certain key management personnel of the company. The options are issued for nil consideration and are 
granted in accordance with performance guidelines established by the Remuneration Committee. 

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 

2020 
Balance at Expired/ Balance at 

Exercise  the start of forfeited/ the end of 
Grant date  Expiry date price  the year Granted Exercised other the year 

30/11/2016  31/08/2019 $0.1192 1,000,000 - (1,000,000)  - - 
30/11/2016  31/08/2020 $0.1592 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
30/11/2016  31/08/2021 $0.1992 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
30/11/2016  31/08/2022 $0.2392 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2020 $0.1192 550,000 - - (550,000)  - 
02/04/2017  31/03/2021 $0.1592 550,000 - - - 550,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2022 $0.1992 550,000 - - - 550,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2023 $0.2392 550,000 - - - 550,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2022 $0.1192 50,000 - - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2023 $0.1592 50,000 - - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2024 $0.1992 50,000 - - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2025 $0.2392 50,000 - - - 50,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2022 $0.1200 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2022 $0.1600 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2024 $0.1600 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2024 $0.2000 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  01/07/2024 $0.2000 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  01/10/2024 $0.2000 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 
01/12/2019  01/07/2025 $0.2000 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 

6,400,000 7,000,000 (1,000,000)  (550,000)  11,850,000 
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2019 
Balance at Expired/ Balance at 

Exercise the start of forfeited/ the end of 
Grant date  Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised other the year 

30/11/2016  31/08/2019 $0.1192 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
30/11/2016  31/08/2020 $0.1592 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
30/11/2016  31/08/2021 $0.1992 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
30/11/2016  31/08/2022 $0.2392 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2020 $0.1192 550,000 - - - 550,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2021 $0.1592 550,000 - - - 550,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2022 $0.1992 550,000 - - - 550,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2023 $0.2392 550,000 - - - 550,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2022 $0.1192 - 50,000 - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2023 $0.1592 - 50,000 - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2024 $0.1992 - 50,000 - - 50,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2025 $0.2392 - 50,000 - - 50,000 

6,200,000 200,000 - - 6,400,000 

Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year: 

2020 2019 
Exercisable 
date Expiry date Number Number 

30/11/2016  31/08/2019 - 1,000,000 
02/04/2017  31/03/2020 - 550,000 
01/09/2017  31/08/2020 1,000,000 1,000,000 
01/04/2018  31/03/2021 550,000 550,000 
01/09/2018  31/08/2021 1,000,000 1,000,000 
01/04/2019  31/03/2022 550,000 550,000 
20/06/2019  31/01/2022 50,000 50,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2022 2,000,000 - 
19/08/2019*  31/03/2023 550,000 - 
19/08/2019*  31/01/2023 50,000 - 
19/08/2019*  31/01/2024 50,000 - 
19/08/2019*  31/01/2025 50,000 - 

5,850,000 4,700,000 

* On 19 August 2019 a take-over offer was launched resulting in all existing non-vested options at that time immediately
vesting per the ESOP terms and conditions. 

Set out below are the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at grant date of options granted during the 
current financial year 

Share price Exercise Expected Dividend Risk-free  Fair value 
Grant date  Expiry date at grant date price volatility yield interest rate  at grant date 

01/12/2019  30/11/2022 $0.1100 $0.1200 71.000% - 0.645% $50,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2022 $0.1100 $0.1600 71.000% - 0.645% $40,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2024 $0.1100 $0.1600 71.000% - 0.730% $56,000 
01/12/2019  30/11/2024 $0.1100 $0.2000 71.000% - 0.730% $46,000 
01/12/2019  01/07/2024 $0.1100 $0.2000 71.000% - 0.695% $37,000 
01/12/2019  01/10/2024 $0.1100 $0.2000 71.000% - 0.730% $44,000 
01/12/2019  01/07/2025 $0.1100 $0.2000 71.000% - 0.765% $51,000 
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Accounting policy for share-based payments 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine 
whether the consolidated entity or group receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is 
taken of any other vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate 
of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 
periods. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or group or employee, the failure to satisfy the 
condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or group or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting 
period, unless the award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award 
is treated as if they were a modification. 

Note 34. Contingent Liabilities 

The group had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (2019:$Nil) 

Note 35. Events after the reporting period 

In order to more closely align the below subsidiary company's names with the State or region they operate in, the following 
company name changes were finalised post financial year end: 

 - Alliance (SA) Pty Ltd became Alliance Resources (WA) as from 9 July 2020 
 - Alliance Craton Explorer Pty Ltd became Alliance (Eyre) Pty Ltd as from 9 July 2020 

All other details remain the same. 
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In March 2020, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 ('COVID-19' or 'the virus') was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organisation and post the balance date the pandemic is ongoing. The full impact of the virus on the economy in Australia is 
not yet known as the outbreak continues to evolve at the date of this report. The result of the pandemic has been 
substantial reduction in economic activity globally, as governments have introduced measures in a bid to halt or at least 
slow, transmission of the virus. In light of these circumstances, management continues to consider the potential 
implications of COVID-19 and have prepared a detailed cash flow budget for a period of 12 months from approval of these 
financial statements. As part of this process, a number of cash flow measures have been implemented and on this basis 
the Directors are of the view that the company has the ability to continue to operate as a going concern. 

Ongoing interstate and international travel restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic has and continues to hamper the
group's on-site exploration activities, though not materially. Geologists continue to work remotely and local contractors 
have been engaged to ensure the group's projects progress. The group continues to follow strict site protocols for onsite 
works as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic ensuring all State and Federal obligations are adhered to.  

With the current easing of certain COVID-19 pandemic restrictions in Australia, including the re-opening of some of the
States borders (particularly South Australia), the group has been able to progress its upcoming planned works in a timely 
manner. As at the date these financial statements were authorised, management was not aware of any material adverse 
effects on the financial statements as a result of COVID-19. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the consolidated entity or group's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity or group's state of 
affairs in future financial years 
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In the directors' opinion: 

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board as described in the notes to the financial statements;

● the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity or group's financial 
position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

● there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

___________________________ 
Ian Gandel 
Chairman 

30 September 2020 
Melbourne 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the members of Alliance Resources Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Alliance Resources Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including independence standards) (the Code) 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters.  
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EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION COSTS 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group has incurred significant exploration 

and evaluation expenditures which have been 

capitalised. As the carrying value of exploration 

and evaluation expenditures represents a 

significant asset of the Group, we considered it 

necessary to assess whether facts and 

circumstances existed to suggest that the 

carrying amount of this asset may exceed its 

recoverable amount.  

AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 

Resources contains detailed requirements with 

respect to both the initial recognition of such 

assets and ongoing requirements to continue to 

carry forward the assets.  

Note 13 to the financial statements contains the 

accounting policy and disclosures in relation to 

exploration and evaluation expenditures. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others: 

• Obtaining evidence that the Group has
valid rights to explore in the areas
represented by the capitalised
exploration and evaluation expenditures
by performing independent searches;

• Confirming whether the rights to tenure
of the areas of interest remained
current at reporting date as well as
confirming that rights to tenure are
expected to be renewed for tenements
that will expire in the near future;

• Agreeing a sample of the additions to
capitalised exploration expenditures
during the year to supporting
documentation, and ensuring that the
amounts were permissible and
capitalised correctly;

• Reviewing the directors' assessment of
the carrying value of the exploration and
evaluation expenditures, ensuring that
management have considered the effect
of potential impairment indicators,
commodity prices and the stage of the
Group's projects; and

• Reviewing public (ASX) announcements
and minutes of directors’ meetings to
ensure that the Group had not decided
to discontinue activities in any of its
areas of interest.

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information contained in the Directors’ report and Shareholder information for the year ended 30 June 

2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained 

prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s address and Review of Operations, which 

is expected to be made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date 

of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

When we read the Chairman’s address and Review of Operations, if we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and will 

request that it is corrected.  If it is not corrected, we will seek to have the matter appropriately 

brought to the attention of users for whom our report is prepared. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 5 to 11 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 30 June 2020. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Alliance Resources Limited, for the year ended 30 June 

2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards.  

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

Wai Aw 

Director 

Melbourne, 30 September 2020 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 22 September 2020. 

Ordinary shares 
178,300,080 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 840 shareholders. 

Distribution of equitable securities 
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 

Number 
of holders 

Number of options 
of holders over 

Range of units as of 22 September 2020 of ordinary ordinary 
shares shares 

1 to 1,000 162 - 
1,001 to 5,000 154 - 
5,001 to 10,000 221 - 
10,001 to 100,000 251 - 
100,001 and over 52 6 

840 6 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 198 - 
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Equity security holders 

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 

Ordinary shares 
% of total 

Name shares 
Number held issued 

ABBOTSLEIGH PTY LTD / GANDEL METALS PTY LTD / IAN GANDEL 127,968,073 71.77 
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 10,332,807 5.80 
ONE MANAGED INVT FUNDS LTD (SANDON CAPITAL INV LTD A/C) 8,608,465 4.83 
DEBUSCEY PTY LTD 7,194,227 4.03 
MR AVINASH LAKHAN (ARYAN FIRST A/C) 2,193,284 1.23 
MR PETER LEMMEN (CRENTIN P/L A/C) 1,023,275 0.57 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 733,476 0.41 
ABBAWOOD NOMINEES PTY LTD (ABBOTT FAMILY S/F NO 1 A/C) 670,000 0.38 
MR PETER LEMMEN+MRS SUZANNE LEMMEN (SOPLAX SUPERFUND A/C) 625,209 0.35 
MR WARREN ANDREW MCDONALD 620,000 0.35 
PROVIDENCE GOLD AND MINERALS PTY LTD (SUPER FUND A/C) 606,667 0.34 
MR YURI ALEXANDER ZYLEWICZ 600,000 0.34 
BARLOO INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 454,251 0.25 
MR JOZE VUKOVICH + MRS SHARON ELIZABETH ANN VUKOVICH (THE BANJA S/F 
A/C) 448,388 0.25 
MRS SHARON ELIZABETH ANN VUKOVICH 356,601 0.20 
ALFRET PTY LTD 302,373 0.17 
MR ROSS WILLIAM KEATING + MRS DEBORAH ANN KEATING (KEATECH SUPER 
FUND A/C) 300,279 0.17 
MRS ANNA CARINA HART + MR PAUL HART (HART FAMILY SUPER FUND A/C) 287,192 0.16 
MR GRAEME JOHN HAINES + MRS SHARNI GAY HAINES (G & S HAINES S/F A/C) 277,338 0.16 
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 275,977 0.15 

163,877,882 91.91 

Substantial holders 
Substantial holders in the company are set out below: 

Ordinary shares 
% of total 

shares 
Number held issued 

Abbotsleigh Proprietary Limited / Gandel Metals Pty Ltd / Ian Gandel 127,968,073 71.77 
Sandon Capital Pty Ltd 18,930,981 10.62 

Voting rights 

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 

There are no other classes of equity securities. 
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